

Navajo Technical University Request for Proposal (RFP) 2025-009

Campus Fencing Infrastructure Main Campus-Crownpoint, NM

Important Dates

RFP Release Date: September 19, 2025

Deadline for Questions: September 30, 2025

Proposal Due Date: October 3, 2025 (12:00 noon)

Questions/Clarifications related to this RFP will be directed to:

Mr. Abe Bitok

Director of Support Services

Navajo Technical University

P.O. Box 849, Lowerpoint Road, State Hwy 371

Crownpoint, NM 87313

Phone: (505) 406-7277 or (Geri Gamble 505- 387-7376)

E-mail: a.bitok@navajotech.edu and finance@navajotech.edu

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Object of this RFP	,
2.	About Navajo Technical University	j
3.	Scope of Work	j
4.	Proposal Specifications	į
5.	Qualified Vendor Information4	ŀ
6.	Indian Preference4	ŀ
7.	Proposer Certification Statement	j
8.	Special Term and Conditions6	
9.	Indemnification6	
10.	Subcontracts6	,
11.	Proprietary Information6	,
12.	Integrated Agreement7	,
13.	Worker's Compensation7	,
14.	Insurance Requirements7	,
15.	NTU Rights for Solicitation Cancellation, Rejection of a Proposal or all Proposals7	,
16.	Changes to the RFP and Addenda7	,
17.	Rights of NTU7	,
18.	Proposal Review and Notification7	,
19.	Proposal Evaluation and Criteria8	į
20.	Availability of Funds	į
21.	Opening of Proposals	į
22.	Award of Proposal9	,
23.	Proposal Submission9	,
24.	Attachment A - Scope of Work	,
25.	Attachment B - Certification Regarding Debarment13	,

Objective of this RFP:

The Navajo Technical University (NTU) seeks written proposal from qualified vendors (hereafter referred to as "Firm" or "Contractors") to submit bids to remove existing fencing/gates and to install new ornamental fencing and gates at the main campus located in Crownpoint, New Mexico. A more complete description of the fence and gate requirements is provided in the "Bid Specifications" of the RFP (Attachment A).

About Navajo Technical University:

Navajo Technical University is a tribal technical university established in 1979 and chartered by the Navajo Nation. Located in Crownpoint in Northwest New Mexico, the University prepares Navajos and other students with a quality technical and vocational education, associate degrees, bachelor degrees, master degrees, or community education in a higher learning setting. With a current enrollment of 1,200 students at the main campus and at its satellite campus in Chinle, Teec Nos Pos Arizona and Zuni and Kirtland, NM, the university is in a unique position to transition students directly into the workforce or into four-year schools; it addresses the higher education needs of the Navajo Nation in an immediate and comprehensive manner. Navajo Technical University is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Universities and Schools and is a member of the American Indian Higher Education Consortium.

Today, NTU is one of the premier institutions of higher education in the nation, providing a unique balance between science and technology and culture and tradition. Much of what guides NTU's success is our mission and our identity rooted in the Diné Philosophy of Education.

Scope of Services

NTU is seeking proposals from Qualified Vendors to fulfil the scope of work. The first phase of this project includes removing the current fencing (2,300 feet) and gates. The second phase will be the installation of a 2,300 feet ornamental fencing and gates at two entrances. Refer to Attachment A for product specification.

Proposal Specifications

The Proposals must be submitted in two parts: A. One (1) original and four (4) copies of the "RFP 2025-009 Campus Fencing Infrastructure" proposal and including all other attachment(s); B. One (1) original of the Cost Proposal must be submitted in a sealed envelope, which specifies on its face the name of the Proposer and must clearly be marked "RFP 2025-009 Campus Fencing Infrastructure." Proposer shall indicate Navajo Nation Priority 1 or Priority 2 Vendor on the envelope. Proposals received after the due date and time specified shall be returned unopened. In order for your proposal to be considered, it must include the following:

A. Cost (Fees) Proposal – Please provide your fee in the same order as below.

- 1. Price for the Campus Fencing Infrastructure at Crownpoint, NM Campus.
- 2 Cost proposal should include the cost for the removal of the current fencing and gate. Cost for the new fencing and gates.
- **3** Provide estimated completion time in weeks.
- 4. Provide Proposal Bond for the RPF and Payment Bond when awarded
- 5. Submit a Safety Plan for and identify the safety competent person for the project.
- **6** Provide a copy of General Contractor license.

B. Qualified Vendor Information

This section is intended to establish the ability of the Firm to satisfactorily perform the required work, including demonstrated experience and competence in performing work of a similar nature. Consideration will also be given to the bidder's strength and stability, staffing capability, record of meeting schedules on similar projects and supportive client references.

- 1. A signed letter of interest, stating the Proposer's interest and qualifications in providing the required services/products. Brief Proposer qualification should be limited to two pages.
- 2 Provide a brief profile of the Bidder, including the types of services offered, the year founded, form of the organization (corporation, partnership, and sole proprietorship), number, size and location of offices, and number of employees. Please attach a completed IRS W-9 form.
- 3. Client references, a minimum of three (3) current references for projects completed within the last five years and for services provided to educational institutions or organizations. List of references must include the name of the organization, name, title, address and telephone number of the person at the client organization who is most knowledgeable about the work performed and include the dates of service.
- 4. Provide a list of any pending claims or litigation (current and past five years) with clients and the nature of such.
- 5. Describe your Project Safety Plan that you have implemented on projects of similar size and scope.
- 6. Firm's should include any and all work intended to be subcontracted as part of the proposal submittal, inclusive of background materials and references for proposed subcontractor(s).

Indian Preference

All Navajo Technical University procurement is subject to the Navajo Nation Code and Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) as amended. Navajo Nation Business Opportunity Act (5 NNC§203 et. sea.) and Indian Preference (48 C.F.R. 1452.226-70) will be applied. The Navajo Nation Business Opportunity Act provides qualified and certified Navajo-owned businesses the opportunity to propose on Navajo TechnicalUniversity contracts. A 5% proposal preference will be given to any Navajo-owned or Native American-owned Firm. To receive this preference, Navajo-owned or Native American-owned Firms must be certified by the Navajo Nation Business Regulatory Department.

PROPOSER CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

Navajo Nation Business Opportunity Act (5 NNC§203 et. seq.) and Indian Preference (48 C.F.R. 1452.226-70) will be applied.

In compliance with this request for proposals and to all the conditions imposed herein, the undersigned offers and agrees to furnish the services in accordance with the attached signed proposal.

Name of Firm:					
Name of DBA (If Applicable)					
Represented By:					
Title:					
City, State, Zip:					
Phone No.:	Fax No.:				
Email:					
FEIN No.:	DUNS No.:				
Proposal Submittal Check List □ Proposal/Proposal Requirements					
☐ Attachment A - Cost Pr	oposal (Separate Sealed Envelope)				
☐ Attachment B - Debarment Status					
□ Completed IRS W-9 Form					
☐ Proposer Certification Statement					
☐ Navajo Nation Business Certification - Priority 1 / Priority 2 (if applicable)					
The above Firm DOESDOES NOTintend to respond to this Request for Proposal. (Select One)					

Special Term and Conditions

A. Qualifications of Proposers:

The University may make such reasonable investigations as deemed proper and necessary to determine the ability of the Proposer to perform the work and the Proposer shall furnish to the University all such information for this purpose as may be requested. The University further reserves the right to reject any proposal if the evidence submitted by, or investigations of, such Proposer fails to satisfy the University that such Proposer is properly qualified to carry out the obligations of the contract.

B. Cancellation of Contract

- The University reserves the right to cancel and terminate any resulting contract, in part or in whole, without penalty, upon 30 days' written notice to the Proposer. Any contract cancellation notice shall not relieve the Proposer of the obligation to deliver and/or perform on all outstanding services prior to the effective date of cancellation. In the event of termination by mutual agreement, the Proposer may be compensated for hours worked at the specified contractual rate forwhich the University received consulting services within the scope of the contract.
- If, through any cause other than acts of nature, or other like restrictions beyond the control of the parties rendering performance under the contract impossible, the Proposer fails to fulfill in a timely and proper manner obligations under the contract, the University shall have the right to terminate the contract on written notice to the Proposer specifying the effective date of termination.
- The Proposer shall not be relieved of liability to the University for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of the contract by the Proposer. The University may withhold, or require to be withheld, any payment to the Proposer for the purpose of setoff until such time as the exact amount of damages is agreed upon or is otherwise determined.

Indemnification

The Proposer agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the University, its officers, agents, and employees from any claims, damages, and actions of any kind or nature, whether at law or in equity, arising from or caused by the use of any materials, goods, or equipment of any kind or nature furnished by the Proposer or any services of any kind or nature furnished by the Proposer, provided that such liability is not attributable to the sole negligence of any University employee or the failure of University employees to use the materials, goods, or equipment in the manner described by the Proposer on the materials, goods, or equipment delivered.

Subcontracts

No portion of the work shall be subcontracted without prior written consent of the University, who may refuse to grant its approval for any reason. In the event that the Proposer desires to subcontract some part of the work specified herein, the Proposer shall furnish the University with the names, qualifications, and experience of their proposed subcontractors. The Proposer shall remain fully liable and responsible for the work/service to be performed by his/her subcontractor(s) and shall assure compliance with all requirements of the contract.

Proprietary Information

The University will not accept responses to Invitations for Proposals in cases where the Proposer declares the entire response to the RFP to be proprietary information. The Proposer must designate in the smallest increments possible, that part of the proposal which is deemed to be proprietary.

Integrated Agreement

Any resulting contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the Proposer and the NTU and supersedes all prior negotiations, representation, or agreements, whether written or oral. The contract may only be amended by written agreement of the Proposer and the University.

Worker's Compensation

The Proposer shall be required at all times during the term of this agreement to subscribe and comply with applicable Workers' Compensation laws and to hold harmless the University and its authorized agents from any and all liability from or under said act.

Insurance Requirements

The successful respondent shall be required to have professional liability insurance in full force and effect upon award of the contract and provide proof of coverage and limitations The Proposer shall provide the required Certificate(s) of Insurance within ten (10) working days of the contract award notification and maintain such insurance during the entire term of the contract.

NTU Rights for Solicitation Cancellation, Rejection of a Proposal or All Proposals:

Navajo Technical University reserves the right to reject any and all Proposals submitted, to waive any informalities or irregularities and to re-advertise in its best interest, and to request additional information from all Proposers. The advertisement for Proposals does not commit Navajo Technical University to award a contract nor to pay any costs incurred for the preparation of the Proposal. Any contract awarded will be awarded to the Proposer, who, based upon evaluation of all Proposals, is determined to have submitted the best Proposal, considering both qualifications and cost.

Changes to the RFP and Addenda:

If the NTU determines that additional information or clarification to the RFP is necessary, or if changes are made to the RFP, such information will be supplied in addenda. Addenda shall have the same binding effect as though contained in this RFP. Verbal statements made by the NTU's representatives are not binding on the NTU unless confirmed by written addendum.

Rights of NTU:

During the evaluation process, the NTU reserves the right, where it may serve the NTU's best interest, to request additional information or clarifications from proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. Submission of a proposal indicates acceptance of the conditions contained in the request for proposal (RFP), unless clearly and specifically noted in the proposal submitted and confirmed in the contract between the NTU and the Firm selected.

Upon submission, all proposals become the property of the NTU and become part of our official files without any further obligation on the part of the NTU. The NTU will not pay for any information herein requested, nor is it liable for any costs incurred by the bidder.

Proposal Review and Notification:

The NTU Administrator and a selection panel will review and evaluate each proposal submitted. It is anticipated that the proposal review process will be completed in the month of October 2025. A written notice will be sent only to those firms that were selected for interview.

Proposal Evaluation and Criteria:

The NTU will be evaluating prospective proposals based upon the following criteria:

- A. An Evaluation Committee consisting of officers and employees of Navajo Technical University will be established. The Committee will make all decisions regarding the evaluations, determination of responsible Proposers and the competitive range; recommend the selection of the Proposer, if any, thatmay be awarded the Contract, and in negotiations.
- B. All aspects of the evaluations of the proposals, any discussions/negotiations, including documentation, correspondence and meetings, will be kept confidential during the evaluation process.
- C. All proposals must conform to the specifications. Proposals will be analyzed for conformance with theinstructions and requirements of the RFP. Proposals that do not comply with these instructions and do not include the required information may be rejected as insufficient or not be considered for competitive range. Navajo Technical University reserves the right to request of a Proposer to provide any missing information and to make corrections.
- D. Evaluations will be made in strict accordance with all of the evaluation criteria specified herein. Evaluation of proposals will be based upon the following criteria:
 - 1. Responsiveness of the proposal in clearly stating and understanding the scope of services, and in meeting the proposal requirements of the RFP.
 - 2. Previous experience of the Proposer in general providing the same/similar product/service.
 - 3. Qualifications of the Proposer to provide the University with product/services requested for.
 - 4. Information obtained by the University from Proposer's references or other clients.
 - 5. Fees and expenses for services to be provided by the Proposer.
 - 6. Best interests of the University, only the University is in a position to determine their own best interests, and their decision shall be final.

Availability of Funds

This procurement is subject to the availability of funding. Navajo Technical University's obligation hereunder is contingent upon the availability of appropriated funds from which payment for the Contract purposes can be made. No legal liability on the part of Navajo Technical University for any payment shallarise until funds are made available to the Director of Finance for this Contract and until the Contractor receives notice of such availability, to be confirmed in writing by the Director of Finance. Any award of Contract hereunder will be conditioned upon said availability of funds.

Opening of Proposals

Proposals will not be publicly opened. Except for the "RFP 2025-009 Campus Fencing Infrastructure" this will be publicly opened, read aloud, and recorded immediately after the date and time of submission of proposal. All proposals and evaluations will be kept strictly confidential throughout the evaluation, selection, and negotiation. Only members of the Evaluation Committee, Navajo Technical University administrative officers, and its agents having a legitimate interest will be provided access to the proposals and evaluation results.

No proposal shall be withdrawn for a period of ninety (90) days after the due date of the submission of the proposal. A Proposer may notify or withdraw the proposal at any time prior to the proposal due date by written request, signed by the same person who signed the proposal.

Proposals are to be signed by an individual authorized to bind the submitter to its provisions. Proposals are to contain a statement indicating the period during which the proposal will remain valid. Failure tosign the proposal will disqualify it.

Award of Proposal

- A. Submission and award of a Contract will be awarded to the most responsible Proposer submitting a responsive Proposal that is the most advantageous to Navajo Technical University, taking into consideration the factors outlined in this Request for Proposal.
- B. Independent Contractor: It is expressly understood and agreed that the Proposer, if selected, and all persons designated by it to provide services in connection with the subsequent award of a Contract, is and shall be deemed to be an independent contractor, responsible for its respective acts or omissions and that Navajo Technical University shall in no way be responsible, therefore, neither party hereto has authority to bind the other or to hold out to third parties, that has the authority to bind the other.

Proposal Submission:

Completed proposal must be accepted by mail (with subject line "RFP 2025-009 Campus Fencing Infrastructure" or postmark on or before due date mention in this RFP at:

Business Office

Navajo Technical University

P.O. Box 849, Lowerpoint Road, State Hwy 371

Crownpoint, NM 87313

Phone: 505-387-7376

Email: finance@navajotech.edu

Late proposals will not be considered.

Attachment A - Scope of Work

The first phase of this project includes removing the current fencing (2,300 feet) and gates which remain as property of the University. The second phase will be the installation of 2,300 feet of ornamental fencing and gates at two entrances. Fencing requirements for Navajo Technical University main campus.

A. Cost (Fees) Bid – Attachment A (Sealed in a separate envelope)

- 1. Fees for services to be provided are to include hourly rates for Bidder's partner(s), associate(s), and key support personnel (if applicable). Fees for the Contract Period are to be firm. Pricing should be submitted separately, as stated above, for Contract Period of the proposed contract period.
- 2. Cost of materials to be utilized in the project shall be itemized. The owner has selected the Ameristar Echelon Plus Classic Style. For more detailed specification, refer to Echelon Plus Construction Specification 32 31 19.

Fencing Specification:

Length: Two thousand-three hundred feet (2,300 feet) Ornamental Black Aluminum Fence

Height: Six feet (6 feet)

Posts: Set at 33" (thirty-three inches) deep, concrete footings.

Gate Specification: Transport Sliding Gate

Gate #1-North Entrance – Length: Twenty-six feet (26 feet), 2 swing gates

Gate #2- Main Campus Entrance – Length: Sixty feet (60 feet), 2 transport sliding gate

Include Warranty information workmanship and materials utilized in this project.

Below are highlighted sections of the specifications, refer to Spec A.

MATERIAL

The manufacturer shall supply a total ornamental aluminum fencing system of the Ameristar Echelon Plus[®] ($\underline{\text{Classic}}^{\text{\tiny TM}}$) design. The system shall include all components (i.e., pickets, posts, rails, gates and hardware) required.

The ornamental fence system shall conform to Ameristar's Echelon Plus aluminum ornamental fencing, (<u>Classic</u>, 3-rail) style manufactured by Ameristar Fence Products, Inc. in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

1. Aluminum material for fence framework (i.e., tubular pickets, rails and posts) shall conform to the requirements of ASTM B221. The aluminum extrusions for posts and rails shall be Alloy and Temper Designation 6005-T52. The aluminum extrusions for pickets shall be Alloy and Temper Designation 6063-T52.

- 2. Ornamental iron fence and gates from Ameristar fence products 2,300 LF of 6' ornamental iron fence, Montage plus, classic 3 rail style Ornamental iron steel fence, Standard color power coat black Vertical pickets will be 0.75"Square 18 gauge spaced 4" Horizontal rails will be 1.4375"wide x 1.5"h 14 gauge Post 2 1/2" sq. post 16 gauge. At main entrance 2 each 20'opening x6' tall Double swing gates, manually operated using 6" sq. gate post
- 3. Accessories: Aluminum castings shall be used for all post caps, scrolls, finials, and other miscellaneous hardware. Hinges and latches shall be fabricated from aluminum, stainless steel or composite materials.

FABRICATION

- 1. Pickets, rails and posts shall be pre-cut to specified lengths. ForeRunner rails shall be pre-punched to accept pickets. Grommets shall be inserted into the pre-punched holes in the rails and pickets shall be inserted through the grommets so that pre-drilled picket holes align with the internal upper raceway of the ForeRunner rails (Note: This can best be accomplished by using an alignment template). Retaining rods shall be inserted into each ForeRunner rail so that they pass through the pre-drilled holes in each picket, thus completing the panel assembly.
- 2. The manufactured framework shall be subjected to the Ameristar thermal stratification coating process (high-temperature, in-line, multi-stage, and multi-layer) including, as a minimum, a six-stage pretreatment/wash and an electrostatic spray application of a polyester finish. The topcoat shall be a "no-mar" TGIC polyester powder coat finish with a minimum thickness of 2 mils (0.0508mm). The color shall be (Black). The stratification-coated framework shall be capable of meeting the performance requirements for each quality characteristic shown in Table 2.
- 3. Finish: All fence components shall be subject to a six-stage pretreatment/wash followed by an electrostatic spray application of a "no-mar" TGIC polyester powder coat finish with a minimum thickness of 2-4 mils. The color shall be (specify black, bronze or white).
- 4. Completed panels shall be capable of supporting a 200 lb. load (applied at midspan) without permanent deformation. Panels without rings shall be biasable to a 12.5% change in grade.
- 5. Swing gates shall be fabricated using 1-1/4" x 1-7/16" Forerunner rail, 1.75" sq. x .125" gate ends, and 3/4" sq. x .080 pickets. Gates that exceed 6' in width will have a 1.75" sq. x .125" intermediate upright. All rail and upright intersections shall be joined by welding. All picket and rail intersections shall also be joined by welding.

FENCE INSTALLATION

Fence post shall be spaced according to Table 3, plus or minus ½". For installations that must be raked to follow sloping grades, the post spacing dimension must be measured along the grade. Fence panels shall be attached to posts with brackets supplied by the manufacturer. Posts shall be set in concrete footers 33" depth recommended (Note: In some

cases, local restrictions of freezing weather conditions may require a greater depth). The "Earthwork" and "Concrete" sections of this specification shall govern material requirements for the concrete footer. Posts setting by other methods such as plated posts or grouted core-drilled footers are permissible only if shown by engineering analysis to be sufficient in strength for the intended application.

FENCE INSTALLATION MAINTENANCE

When cutting/drilling rails or posts adhere to the following steps to seal the exposed surfaces; 1) Remove all metal shavings from cut area. 2) Apply custom finish paint matching fence color. Failure to seal exposed surfaces per steps 1 & 2 above will negate warranty. Ameristar spray cans or paint pens shall be used to finish exposed surfaces; it is recommended that paint pens be used to prevent overspray. Use of non-Ameristar parts or components will negate the manufactures' warranty.

GATE INSTALLATION

Gate posts shall be spaced according to the manufacturers' gate drawings, dependent on standard out-to-out gate leaf dimensions and gate hardware selected. Type and quantity of gate hinges shall be based on the application; weight, height, and number of gate cycles. The manufacturers' gate drawings shall identify the necessary gate hardware required for the application. Gate hardware shall be provided by the manufacture of the gate and shall be installed per manufacturer's recommendations.

CLEANING

The contractor shall clean the jobsite of excess materials; post-hole excavations shall be scattered uniformly away from posts.

B. Other

- 1. Scheduled time for material delivery
- 2. Estimated time to complete project (in weeks).

Attachment B - Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and OtherResponsibility Matters

Navajo Technical University is prohibited from contracting with or making prime or sub-awards to parties that are suspended or debarred or whose principals are suspended or debarred from participating in Federal, State of New Mexico, State of Arizona, or Navajo Nation funded contracts. Covered transaction include procurement contracts for goods or professional services in any amount and all non-procurement transactions. This certification is required for all bidders of Navajo Technical University to be awarded and all non-procurement transactions.

The prospective Applicant certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals:

- 1) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in transactions under federal non-procurement programs by any federal department or agency;
- 2) Have not, within the three-year period preceding the proposal, had one or more public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default; and
- 3) Are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (federal, state, or local) and have not, within the three-year period preceding the proposal, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against it:
 - a) For the commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public transaction (federal, state, or local) or a procurement contract under such a public transaction;
 - b) For the violation of federal or state antitrust statutes, including those proscribing price fixing between competitors, the allocation of customers between competitors, or bid rigging; or
 - c) For the commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property.

The Applicant hereby certifies that its firm and its principals are not currently suspended or debarred frombidding on any Federal, State of New Mexico, State of Arizona, or Navajo Nation funded contracts.

Applicant Name (print)	Name of individual signing on Applicant's behalf
Applicant Address	Title of individual signing on Applicant's behalf
	Signature of individual signing on Applicant's behalf
	Date